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Abstract

The late Miocene fossiliferous mammal sites o f Samos 
(Aegean Sea, Greece) have been known since the end of 
the 19th century. Several mammal collections from there 
are housed at various museums and institutes. A ll this 
material from Samos was collected by various scientists 
or fossil collectors over a long period of time up to the 
present. The history o f these excavations, as well as some 
information about the fossils, are given in this article. This 
is an introduction to the study o f the new collection of 
mammal fossils from Samos done by a team of scientists 
from the University of Thessaloniki, since 1993.
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Zusammenfassung

Die obermiozänen Fossilfundstellen von Samos (Ägäis, 
Griechenland) sind seit dem 19. Jahrhundert bekannt. 
Die Sammlungen sind auf diverse Museen und Institute 
verteilt. Das gesamte Material stammt von zahlreichen 
Aufsammlungen, diverser Wissenschafter und Sammler. 
Die Geschichte dieser Ausgrabungen sowie Informationen 
über die Fossilen sind in dieser Arbeit zusammengefasst. 
Es ist weiters eine Einleitung in die Untersuchung der 
neuen Säugetierfunde aus Samos, durchgeführt von dem 
Wissenschaftern der Universität Thessaloniki seit 1993.

Schlüsselworte: Obermiozän, Samos, Griechenland, 
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1. Geography and History o f Samos

Samos is one of the large islands of the Eastern Aegean Sea, 
with a size o f477 km2 and a population of -33.000 (Fig. 1). 
During summer the population increases remarkably, as it is 
a well-known tourist destination for holidays. The maximal 
length o f the island is 44 km and the maximal breadth 19 
km, while its seashores measure 140 km. One of the main 
products of Samos is the world famous wine, known since 
historical times. The name Samos is o f Phoenician origin 
and according to the old geographer Stravon means “rise by 
the shore”. However, the island is also known as Parthenia, 
a name given by the tribe of Pelasgi, when they inhabited 
the island, and it derives from the worship o f the goddess 
“Parthena (= virgin) Hera”. The island is also referred to by 
several other names such as Anthemis, Dryoussa, Doryssa, 
Kyparissia, Imvrasia and Melamfylos.
Several tribes inhabited Samos, such as the Kares, Leleges, 
Pelasgi, but the first settlers were the Hisiis and Astipa- 
leans. The founder of the town of Samos is Angeos an 
Argonaut who introduced the worship o f Hera and the 
viniculture to the island. After the Trojan W ar the Ionians 
colonized Samos. Archaeological evidence found near the 
town of Pythagorion, suggests that Samos was inhabited as 
early as the Neolithic period. A  settlement was discovered 
near the ancient temple o f Hereon, which dates back to 
4th millennium B.C. and is considered the capital o f the 
island. Samos reached its maximum development during 
the period of the tyrant Polycrates (546-522 B.C.), who 
organized a great army and made Samos a naval power 
of the area. This gave the inhabitants the opportunity to 
develop trade, as the position of the island between East 
and West was geographically favorable. During this period 
the Samians founded their own colonies. Simultaneously, 
Polycrates advanced the development o f the sciences and 
arts. Aristarchus, put forward the theory of the heliocentric 
system, Pythagoras developed mathematics, while several 
philosophers and artists, such as Agatharchus, Theodore, 
Aesop (the famous fable-writer), Damo, Callistatus, 
Eupalinus etc. promoted the sciences, architecture and 
sculpture. It is worth mentioning here that the names
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Figure 1: Aerial map of Samos indicating the M ytilinii basin.

Pythagoras, Polycrates and Aristarchus still exist in the 
local population of Samos.
This great development of Samos was cut short by the 
Persian W ars, when the island lost its freedom and 
became an equal member of the Athenian alliance after 
the end of the war. Samos was conquered by the Romans 
in 129 B.C. who brought all the island's treasures to 
Rome. Later on, it became part of the Byzantine Empire 
during the 4th century A.D. and remained so until the 
disruption of the empire in 1204 A.D. The island was 
attacked by pirates, Arabs, Venetians, Turks and other 
invaders but it kept its Hellenic features. During 1475- 
1565 most of the inhabitants left the island because of 
the Turkish opression and went to other islands, as well 
as to the coasts of Asia Minor. This period is known as 
the “devastation” of Samos. By the middle of the 16th 
century Samos was colonized by Greek populations and 
most of the modern villages were founded. In 1835 Samos 
was freed from the Ottoman Empire but it did not unite 
with the Hellenic State and remained as an independent 
hegemony until 1912, when it became part of Greece.

D uring the Sam ian hegemony most of the fossilife- 
rous sites were found and excavated by various people.

2. History o f the Samos mammal fossils

The late Miocene fossiliferous sites of Samos are well 
known and have yielded a great amount of fossils. Solou- 
nias (1981) refers to the fact that more than 30.000 speci­
mens are dispersed in various museums and institutes of 
Europe and the United States. Fossil mammal collections 
(small or large) from Samos are housed in almost the whole 
of Europe, in London, Paris, Padova, Budapest, Vienna, 
Lausanne, Basel, Geneva, Bern, Frankfurt, Hamburg, 
Munich, Darmstadt, Münster, Stuttgart, Berlin. In Greece 
there is a collection at the University of Athens and at the 
Aegean Museum of Natural History, Samos. Significant 
collections also exist in the U .S.A .; the largest is that of 
the American Museum of Natural History (AM NH) in 
New York, but smaller collections are also housed at New 
Haven, Cambridge, Berkeley, Washington and Chicago.
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Figure 3: The Trojan Monster 
as it is depicted on an ancient 
Greek vase, housed at the Mu­
seum of Boston and the skull of 
Samotherium. The Trojan monster 
could correspond to the skull of 
Samotherium. The picture of the 
vase is taken from M ayor (2000) 
and the drawing of Samotherium  
from Lydekker(1883).

The mammal fossils of Samos have been known since 
historical times, as two ancient Greek myths indicate their 
presence. The men found big bones of animals, which were 
exposed on the island of Samos, and based on that they 
tried to explain their presence.
The first legend is mentioned by Euphorion, a Greek ge­
ographer of ~200 B.C. According to Aelianus (3rd century 
A.D.) Euphorion says that Samos became a desert during 
ancient times, which was due to the presence of the Neades 
(very large monsters) which brought several trials to the 
island. Their roaring was so strong that it split the earth. 
Their bones are exposed on the surface for anyone to see. 
The correlation of earthquakes with the Neades, as well as 
that of the fossils with their bones, is quite clear.
The other legend about the Samos fossils is narrated by Plu- 
tarchus (~100 A.D.) and it refers to the battle of Dionyssos 
with the Amazons. Dionyssos was the god of wine and 
the Amazons were a purely female tribe, who were great 
warriors and lived near the Black Sea. Plutarchus gives 
the following information in ancient Greek (Forsyth 
M ajor, 1894):
“Airo zivog Tldvaipa zonog sv  zri Zo.fj.iojv vr/aco KaXsizai. 
H on cpsvyovaai A iovvoov a i ApaCovsg sk Ecpsoicov/copag 
eig  Zd/uov Siekegov, o Ss nou fadfisvog nXoia, ko.i Siaftdg, 
pdyrjv ovvrjyjs ko.i TzoXXdg avzcbv anEKzsivs Ttepi zov zonov 
zovzov, ov  dm zo TiXrjOog zoo psovzog aipazog, oi Oscbpsvoi 
ITdvaifia Oo.vpidCovzEg sKaXovv. Tojv Ss cp * * *  anoOavsiv 
zivsg Xsyovzai izspi zov PXoiov, ko.i za ooza SsiKvvzai 
avzcbv; zivsg Ss Xsyovoi koi zo (PXoiov an SKsivcovpayrfvai, 
(pOsyyofjsvojv p sya  zi Kai Sidzopov . ”

A free translation of this text says:
“Since ancient times a place, nam ed Panema (an area where 
there is blood everywhere), has been known on Samos. TJje 
Amazons try in g to escape from  Dionyssos a rriv ed  on Samos 
from  Ephesos (an ancient city on the coast o f  Asia Minor, op­
posite to Samos). Dionyssos constructed ships, sailed across and 
fou gh t them (the Amazons) in that p lace (Panema). Tloose, who 
had seen the battle, named the area Panema, because o fthe huge

amount o f  blood (ofthe killed Amazons). From those (Amazons) 
who w ere in jured some died in Phlios, where their bones w ere 
exposed. I t is said, that because o f  this Phlios was shattered by 
their strong and shrill voices.”
This legend also tries to explain the presence of large fossil 
mammal bones, connecting them with the skeletal remains 
of the Amazons and their fight against the God Dionyssos. 
M ayor (2000) published several myths about giants and 
monsters related to the presence of fossils. One of them 
is known as the Trojan Monster, and she considers that 
it is a Samotherium  skull based on the drawings on an 
ancient vase, from Corinth, housed at the Museum of 
Boston. Samotherium  is a large girafhd found on Samos. 
The depicted Trojan Monster is a skull with the mandible 
of a large animal which could be a giraffe (Fig. 3). The 
Plutarchus reference about the battle of Dionyssos with the 
Amazons was the incentive for Forsyth Major to prospect 
for fossils on Samos.

3. History o f the Excavations

19th Century

The first mammal fossils from Samos were collected by 
villagers and were given (or sold) 
to Italian travelers. These fos­
sils arrived at the University of 
Padova between 1852 and 1866 
and they are still housed there 
(P iccoli et al., 1975).
Although the villagers knew of 
the presence of the mammal fos­
sils, the German Sprat (1847) 
and the Frenchm an G uerin 
(1856) who studied the geology 
of the island did not mention 
the presence of fossil bones.

Figure 4: Charles Im­
manuel Forsyth Major 
(1843-1923).
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Figure 5: Achilleas Stefanidis. Figure 6: Eberhard Fraas (1862-1915). Figure 7: Prof. Theodore Skoufos (1864-
1938), Photo: S. Roussiakis.

The expatriate Englishman C.J. Forsyth M ajor (Fig. 
4) was on Samos from 1885-87 compiling a collection of 
plants. During that time, knowing of the above mentioned 
legends, he decided to search for fossil mammals on the 
island. Thus, he found the fossiliferous levels of the M y- 
tilin ii Basin (Forsyth M ajor, 1894). He later came back 
to Samos in 1887 and 1889; he excavated and collected 
several fossils which are now housed in various museums 
in Switzerland and in London. The reason that they are 
in Swiss museums is that Forsyth M ajor’s expeditions 
were funded by a Swiss family. However, it is clear that 
before Forsyth Major, some villagers of M ytilin ii (a large 
village near the fossiliferous sites) recognized and collected 
fossils. One of them was the doctor Achilleas Stefanides 
(Fig. 5). The General Secretary of the Samian Parliament, 
Thrassyvoulos M allis, writes in one article entitled “Samos

as a lake and the Aegean Sea as land”, that A. Stefanides 
collected some bones in 1879 and sent them to Prof. 
Hercules Mitzopoulos at the University of Athens, but he 
did not get an answer. He continued to collect fossils and 
when Forsyth Major came to Samos in 1887, he gave him 
his collection (Forsyth M ajor, 1888; 1894).
Forsyth Mayor excavated at Andrianos ravine, Potamies 
ravine and Stefana. A ll collected fossils were sent to 
Switzerland and today they are housed at the museums 
of Lausanne, Geneva and Basel (Forsyth M ajor, 1894). 
Although the localities where Forsyth Mayor collected 
fossils are known, the material from the various sites was 
mixed and is difficult to correlate with the stratigraphy. 
Forsyth Major’s collection of 1889 was sold to the Natural 
History Museum of London (Lydekker, 1890) but there is 
no information from which locity it was collected. Solou-
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Figure 9: Interview of Prof. Theodore Skoufos in the Greek newspaper EMPROS about the Samos excavations, published on 20 
10-1903. Courtesy: S. Roussiakis.
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nias (1981) mentions that an old villager told him that 
the “Englishmen” excavated in a place, named Vryssoula. 
But, as he says, it would have been impossible for Forsyth 
Major, being in Samos, not to visit Adrianos ravine which 
is the richest fossiliferous area and not to collect fossils 
from there. The fossil collections of Forsyth Major made 
Samos known to scientists and dealers of that time and 
they soon began to arrive on the island and to collect fossils. 
A t the end of the 19th century, T. Stutzel excavated on 
Samos and the collected fossils were given to the University 
of Munich (Schlosser, 1904; A ndree, 1926).

20th Century

During the first quarter of the 20th century several scien­
tists and fossil dealers excavated at the Samos fossiliferous 
sites which yielded a great number of fossils. According to 
Schlosser (1904) the known fossil dealer, B. Sturtz was 
asked by K. von Borne to stay in Samos from 1889-1900 
and to excavate. The collected fossils were sold to various 
museums (Vienna, Stuttgart, Frankfurt, London), but it 
is unknown from which fossiliferous site or sites they were 
collected. Another problem is that the various museums 
bought fossils from various dealers and mixed them, giv­
ing them a single indication, Samos. Also, the collectors 
were not scientists, so they did not collect them carefully 
without mixing the material. Moreover, as they had profit 
in mind, it is quite possible that they mixed attractive mate­
rial (skulls, mandibles) from one site with less important 
material (postcranials) from another site in order to sell 
their whole collection. During the beginning of the 20th 
century, A . Hentschel excavated on Samos in 1901 and 
1902 and all the material was brought to Munich. A  sig­
nificant number of these fossils was destroyed during the 
Second World War, when the Museum was bombed. The 
remains were packed in boxes, but nobody opened these 
boxes up to now and thus we don’t know, what exactly 
was destroyed (Solounias, 1981). E. Fraas (Fig. 6) also 
excavated on Samos in 1901 and enriched the collections 
of the museums of Munich and Stuttgart. One of the big­
gest collections from Samos is that of K. Acker, which

was sold to various museums. K.
Acker was Consul of Germany 
on Samos and simultaneously 
a wine trader, sending wines to 
Germany and Austria. Moreo­
ver, his father was an antiques 
dealer. He had a nice house with 
private port in an area named 
M alagari, about 1 km far from 
Vathi, the cap ita l of Samos.
Thus, he sent the fossils together 
with the wines to Germany and 
then he sold them to various museums (Vienna, Hamburg, 
Stuttgart, Bern, Basel, Tübingen). Acker had good rela­
tions with the local people, paying them money in order 
to excavate in their fields. This method of excavating is the 
worst for scientists, as they never sell fossils in order to raise 
money to pay the local population. Unfortunately, some 
old villagers ask for money up to now, causing difficulties 
with research; even today, when most of the fields are not 
cultivated and have become forests. However, it is worth 
mentioning here that several inhabitants of M ytilin ii 
village allow us or even called us to go on their fields to 
prospect and excavate.
One of Acker’s collaborators was D. Psilovikos, who also 
worked with B. Brown, as well as alone, compiling a 
large collection of bones. This collection was later sold to 
B. Brown (Solounias, 1981). Before Samos united with 
Greece, Theodore Skoufos, Professor at the University of 
Athens (Fig. 7), went to Samos. He excavated and col­
lected several fossils which are now stored at the Museum 
of Geology and Palaeontology of Athens University. Ac­
cording to the proceedings of the rectorate for the years 
1902-1903 (Fig. 8), T. Skoufos excavated at Samos in 1903 
and, more precisely, at the sites Adrianos, Katikoumena, 
Bartzikos and Bailntaki. It is also noted that the deposits 
are mainly alternated beds of trachitic tuffs which are 
either clayey or calcitic and appear as either clay or sand­
stone or conglomerate. The fossil collection includes several 
mammalian taxa such as Machairodus, Lycyaena, Adrocuta, 
Ictitherium , Protoryx, Prostrepsiceros, Palaeoreas, Crioth- 
erium , Palaeotragus, Samotherium H elladotherium , Hip-

Figure 10: Barnum  
Brown (1873-1963).

Figure 11: a) The Ql of B. Brown at Adrianos ravine, b) Greek refugees excavating in Ql (photos reproduced from Brown, 1924).
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parion , M astodon , D einotherium , Orycteropus and Hystrix 
(Fig. 9). The last big excavation at Samos was conducted 
by Barnum Brown (Fig. 10) from 1921-1924. B. Brown 
was curator at the American Museum of Natural History 
(AMNH) and he collected fossils from several fossilifer- 
ous sites. According to the Annual Reports of Paleonto­
logical Expeditions of A M N H  (http://paleo.amnh.org/ 
reports/index.html) in 1921, B. Brown was engaged in a 
preliminary reconnaissance work in Greece, Asia Minor 
and India. In a report from 1922 it is mentioned that B. 
Brown worked in the Siwaliks (Pakistan) and compiled a 
splendid collection of fossil mammals. In 1923 he began 
a collection on Samos and he investigated several areas 
of Greece and Asia Minor. In the report from 1924 it is 
mentioned that “Barnum Brown continued work in the fo ssil 
quarries o f  Samos and secured a large and valuable collection ’. 
From all these reports it is clear that the main excavations 
at Samos were carried out in 1924. During the earlier years 
B. Brown mainly discussed all the details of the excava­
tions, asked for permissions from the authorities and also 
investigated the area.
The permission to excavate on Samos was given to B. 
Brown after an agreement with Prof. T. Skoufos. W hen 
Skoufos realized the amount of fossils (-5.000 specimens) 
unearthed by Brown, he refused their export to New York. 
After some negotiations and probably after putting some 
pressure on Skoufos, the government gave the permission 
to export the fossils (Solounias, 1981).
Brown (1924) in his article “Samos -  Romantic Isle of 
the Aegean” in the first paragraph mentioned:
“Be it enacted that the Greek G overnment perm its any pa rt 
or a ll o fth e fossils collected in Samos by Barnum Brown to be 
shipped to America as an expression o f  thanks to the American 
people f o r  the many benefits g iv en .”
“Tins order o f  the Greek M inistry issued in September 1924 
become a law  when published in the official jou rn a l and perm it­
ted  the American Museum to secure th efirst collection o f  fossils 
ev er  sent out o f  Greece intact”.
As Brown says he excavated mainly in the Adrianos ravine 
and more precisely in the field that was the property of 
Aristarchus Sophoulis. This site is -4  m above the site 
M y tilin ii- lA  (M TLA ) (Kostopoulos et al., this vol­

Figure 13: Excavation at Adrianos ravine (MTLA) in 1963
(photo reproduced from M elentis, 1968).

ume). During our excavations in 
this area we found the debris of 
Brown’s excavations, which in­
clude several fragments of bones 
and even complete bones. Brown 
collaborated with D. Psilovikos 
and J. Zacharis, and used Greek 
refugees from Turkey (after the 
war of 1922) as workers. He says 
that he employed both men and 
women and he gave them 35 
drachmas (0.70 dollars) and 20 
drachmas (0.40 dollars) per day respectively, for 10 hours 
of work. They lived in tents (Fig. 11) near Adrianos ravine 
(Brown, 1924). Brown named his excavation sites “Quar­
ries” and he excavated in seven sites (Qx, Q l-6). Although 
he separated the fossils from the different quarries, and the 
A M N H  collection is the only one with locality indications, 
we are not sure about these. The reasons are:
• The fossils were collected and packed by non scientists 
and thus mixing is highly possible.
• Brown bought about 500 fossils from D. Psilovikos 
which were mixed with the other material. Their origin 
is quite doubtful.
• It is quite possible that Brown took or bought fossils from 
other villagers and their origin is also questionable. 
Despite these problems, Brown’s collection is the richest 
with the most certain stratigraphic indications and it is 
used by us in the following chapters.
In 1963 Prof. John K. Melentis (Fig. 12) went to Samos 
and he excavated in Adrianos ravine (M elentis, 1969). 
Prof. Melentis worked three weeks in the area and he com­
piled a small collection. The exact fossiliferous site where 
he excavated, is M ytilinii-1 A  (M TLA), as Prof. Melentis 
told and showed me, when we went to Samos together 
in 1977. Then later, we went there again in 1985 and he 
explained to me, where he dug the trench at the bottom of 
the Adrianos ravine (Fig. 13). A ll the material collected by 
Prof. Melentis, as well as some material transferred from 
Athens, was used for a small exhibition which was shown 
in a room of the town hall of M ytilin ii. Simultaneously, 
Prof. Melentis and the major of the village founded the

Figure 14: Excavations at Adrianos ravine (MTLA) in 1985; 
from left Constantinos Stéfanis, Constantinos Triantaphyllou, 
John Sophoulis and Prof. J.K. Melentis, Photo: G.D. Koufos.
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Figure 12: John K. Me­
lentis (1922-2001).

http://paleo.amnh.org/


Beitr. Palaont., 31, Wien, 2009

Palaeontological Museum ofM ytilin ii, Samos. The speci­
mens (118) belonging to this collection are mentioned in 
the articles of this volume with the prefix PM M S in front 
of their code number. It is not mixed with the new collec­
tion because it is mixed with some material of unknown 
origin, transferred from Athens; probably, these specimens 
are from Prof. Skoufo’s collection. It is also quite possible 
that during all these years some specimens were given to 
the museum by the villagers and mixed with the others. 
Thus, it is better to study the PM M S collection separately. 
In 1994 all the material of the Palaeontological Museum 
of M ytilin ii was transferred to the Aegean Museum of 
Natural History and it is exhibited there.
In 1985 Prof. Melentis and the author went to Samos and 
excavated for two weeks in Adrianos ravine (Fig. 14). The 
material was collected from the site M T L A  and remained 
unpreparated for many years. It was preparated by us at 
the end of the 1990’s and is included to the new material 
collected from M T L A  because its origin is certain.

4. The New Campaign o f Excavations

In 1993 the ”K. and M . Zimalis Foundation” and the 
Aegean Museum of Natural History invited the author 
to Samos to excavate in order to compile a new collection, 
enriching the old one and the exhibition of the museum.

Figure 15: Recent view of the M ytilinii basin.

In fact, the author and Dr. D. Kostopoulos went to Samos 
and stayed there for one week, prospecting the M ytilin ii 
Basin and trying to relocate the fossiliferous sites. The 
fossiliferous area is situated to the north-west of the 
village o fM ytilin ii (Kostopoulos, et al., this volume). 
M ytilin ii is a large village situated at the center of East 
Samos (Fig. 15). The villagers know the fossils and the 
fossiliferous sites very well and their informations were 
very useful. Most of the fossiliferous sites are located at 
the Potamies and Adrianos ravine (Fig. 16), as well as at 
one site, which is in the northern part of the ravine, near 
the village of Kokkarion (Fig. 1). Although there are short

Figure 16: General view of the Adrianos ravine with the position of the excavated fossiliferous sites.
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Figure 17: Recent excavations in Mytilinii Basin, a) Fossiliferous site M TLA, 1997 (from left to right V. Karagiannakis, T. Vlachou 
and G.D. Koufos); b) Fossiliferous site M TLA, 1998 (from left to right D.S. Kostopoulos, D.G. Koufos); c) Fossiliferous site MTLB, 
2001 (from left to right T. Vlachou, D.S. Kostopoulos, E. Telloglou and J. Elmatzidis); d) Fossiliferous site MTLA, 1997 (from left 
to right E. Tsompachidou, E. Vasileiadou, G.D. Koufos and I.A. Sylvestrou).

breaks, the excavations on Samos still continue and a great 
amount of fossils has been unearthed. They mainly yielded 
mammals, some reptiles (turtles, varanes) as well as some 
continental mollusks. Our efforts to find small mammals 
were not successful, as we washed several sacks of sedi­
ments from various places but the results were very poor 
(Vassileiadou &  Sylvestrou, this volume).
One of the main aims of the new excavations was to com­
pile a collection of clear and certain stratigraphic origin. 
Thus, after the relocation of the fossiliferous levels new 
names were given to the sites and we tried to correlate the 
old and new sites. The main stratigraphic search concerned 
placing the fossiliferous sites in a stratigraphic order. For 
this reason several sections of the basin have been stud­
ied, sometimes with high accuracy (1 meter). This allows 
finding the relationships of the beds, to correlate them 
and to put all localities (old and new) in a stratigraphic 
order (Kostopoulos et ah, 2003; Kostopoulos et ah, 
this volume). The result was a detailed stratigraphy with 
the certain position of the new fossiliferous sites. The old 
fossiliferous sites were also put in a stratigraphic order, 
using all the available information, which was referred to 
in the bibliography, as well as the oral history gathered 
from the villagers.
Several colleagues, graduate and postgraduate students 
have worked in the field for the excavations (Fig. 17), as

well as in the laboratory for the preparation of the fossils. 
Some of them continued and are palaeontologists today. 
As minimal recognition and respect of their work and en­
thusiasm, their names and the years in which they worked 
are listed below. They are mentioned with their recent title, 
except the author who is responsible for the project:

• George E. Syrides, Assistant Professor (1996-1998)
• Kalliopi K. Koliadimou, Dr., palaeontologist (1994)
• Dimitrios S. Kostopoulos, Dr., palaeontologist (1993-94, 
1997-today)
• Ioanna A. Sylvestrou, Dr., geologist (1996-2002, 2007)
• Ekaterini Vasileiadou, Dr., palaeontologist (1997-98)
• John Grigoriadis, Msc., geologist (1999)
• George E. Konidaris, Msc., palaeontologist (2006)
• George C. Seitanidis, Msc., geologist (1994, 1996)
• Elisabeth Tsompachidou, Msc., geologist (1997-98)
• Theodora D. Vlachou, Msc., palaeontologist (1996-to- 
day)
•John Elmatzidis, geologist (2001, 2002)
• Vassiliki Karagiannakis, geologist (1996)
• Dimitrios G. Koufos, civil engineer (1997,1998)
• John Sarris, geologist (2002)
• Eleftheria Telloglou, geologist (2001, 2002)
The whole period of work on Samos covers a continuous 
time span of approximately eight months. The collected
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material consists of more than 1.200 specimens and in­
cludes several complete skulls and mandibles, as well as 
a large number of postcranials. Some prelim inary data of 
the new campaign of excavations are given earlier (Koufos 
et ah, 1997, 2004; Kostopoulos et ah, 2003). The new 
collection as well as that of Prof. J. Melentis was studied 
by a group of palaeontologists organized by the author and 
is included in this volume.

5. The Aegean Museum o f Natural History

As mentioned above, a museum, with the name “Palae­
ontological Museum of M ytilin ii, Samos” (PM M S), was 
founded in 1967. The foundation of the museum was based 
on the collection of Prof. Melentis exhibited in a small 
room of the town hall of M ytilin ii. Since the beginning 

of the 1990’s, several efforts 
were made for a new building 
housing the fossils. As usual 
economic reasons stopped the 
effort and everyone was w ait­
ing for better conditions. In the 
meantime several visitors, es­
pecially during summer, visited 
the fossil exhibition housed at 
the town hall. The necessity for 

Figure 18: Konstantinos a new museum was predomi- 
Zimalis (1908-1996). nant and one of the inhabit­

ants of the v illage , Konstantinos Z im alis (Fig. 18), 
decided to take action. Thus, the “Konstantinos and 
M aria Zimalis Foundation”, financed the construction 
of a nice building in a large field which was founded 
as the Aegean Museum of Natural History (Fig. 19). 
The main aim of the museum is to save and protect the 
natural monuments of Samos, as well as to show the pal­
aeontological, geological and zoological heritage of the 
island. The museum has two big halls and two smaller 
ones. The first big one, named “Prof. J. M elentis-H all” 
(Fig. 20a-c), includes the mammal fossil collection from 
Samos. In this hall the mammal fossils from Samos are 
exhibited, including specimens from the old and new 
collection and from all animals found. The other large 
hall, named “J. Stefanis-H all” includes an exhibition of 
various indigenous animals including birds, living at the 
island of Samos. O f the two small halls, one includes a 
nice collection of minerals in general (Fig. 20d), as well 
as a collection of rocks and minerals from Samos. In the 
other hall a collection of shells and fishes is exhibited. In 
the sub-basement there are several rooms used as labo­
ratories for the preparation of fossils as well as for their 
storage. The establishment of the Aegean Museum of 
Natural History in Samos was a strong incentive for new 
excavations and the collection of new material. In fact the 
new excavations enriched the exhibition and also made 
available remarkable data for solving several chronologi­
cal and palaeoecological problems concerning mammal 
faunas of Samos (see Koufos et ah, this volume-a, b).

Figure 19: The Aegean Museum of Natural History, Mytilinii, Samos, Greece.
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Figure 20: Exhibitions at the Aegean Museum of Natural History, a, b, c) palaeontological exhibition in the “J.K. Melentis-Hall”; 
d) the mineralogical exhibition of the museum, Photo: D.S. Kostopoulos.
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